ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 4, 2003
8:00 a.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bruce Weyhrauch, Chair
Representative Janmes Holm Vice Chair
Representati ve Nancy Dahl strom
Representative Bob Lynn

Represent ati ve Paul Seaton
Representative Ethan Berkow tz
Representati ve Max Gruenberg

VEVMBERS ABSENT
Al l nmenbers present
OTHER LEGQ SLATORS PRESENT

Representati ve M ke Hawker
Representative Carl Gatto

COWM TTEE CALENDAR
CONFI RVATI ON HEARI NG

Comm ssi oner, Departnent of MIlitary and Veterans' Affairs

Brigadi er General Craig E. Canpbell - Anchorage
- CONFI RVATI ON(S) ADVANCED
HOUSE Bl LL NO. 45
"An Act adding a second verse to the official Al aska state
song. "
- MOVED HB 45 OUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS ACTI ON
BILL: HB 45

SHORT TI TLE: SECOND VERSE OF ALASKA' S STATE SONG
SPONSOR(S) :  REPRESENTATI VE( S) WEYHRAUCH

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- February 4, 2003



Jrn-Date Jrn- Page Action

01/21/03 0043 (H PREFI LE RELEASED (1/ 10/ 03)

01/21/03 0043 (H READ THE FI RST TI ME -
REFERRALS

01/21/03 0043 (H CRA, STA

01/ 29/ 03 0089 (H COSPONSOR( S) : MORGAN

01/ 30/ 03 (H CRA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 124

01/ 30/ 03 (H Moved Qut of Conmittee

01/ 30/ 03 (H M NUTE( CRA)

01/31/03 0099 (H CRA RPT 6DP

01/31/03 0099 (H DP: KOOKESH, Cl SSNA, SAMUELS,

01/31/03 0099 (H ANDERSQN, CHENAULT, MORGAN

01/31/03 0100 (H FN1: ZERQ( UA)

01/31/03 0106 (H COSPONSOR( S) :  ANDERSON,
JOULE, Cl SSNA,

01/31/03 0106 (H KERTTULA, STEVENS, SEATON

02/ 03/ 03 0120 (H COSPONSOR( S) : MOSES, W LSON,
HARRI S

02/ 04/ 03 (H STA AT 8: 00 AM CAPI TOL 102

W TNESS REG STER

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CRAI G E. CAMPBELL, Adjutant General/

Conmi ssi oner

Department of Mlitary & Veterans' Affairs

Fort Richardson, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as appoi nt ed adj ut ant
general / comm ssioner of the Departnment of Mlitary & Veterans'
Affairs

CONSTANCE DAVI S

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as the daughter of the author of
the proposed second verse to the Al aska state song, during
testi nony on HB 45.

J. ALLAN MACKI NNON

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of adopting the second
verse of the Al aska state song during testinony on HB 45.

TERI TIBBIT, Staff

to Representative Max G uenberg

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sang the Al aska state song, including the
proposed second verse, during testinony on HB 45.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- February 4, 2003



ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 03-03, SIDE A
Number 0001

CHAI R BRUCE WEYHRAUCH called the House State Affairs Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 8:00 a.m Representati ves Hol m
Seat on, G uenberg, and Wyhrauch were present at the call to
order. Representati ves Dahlstrom Lynn, and Berkowitz arrived
as the neeting was in progress. QO her legislators present were
Represent ati ves Hawker and Gatto.

CONFI RVATI ON HEARI NG

Comm ssi oner, Departnent of Mlitary & Veterans' Affairs

Nunmber 0052

CHAI R VWEYHRAUCH announced the first order of business, the
confirmation hearing on the appointnment of Brigadier Genera
Craig E. Canmpbell as adjutant general/commi ssioner of the
Department of MIlitary and Veterans' Affairs (DWA).

Nunber 0103

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CRAI G E. CAMPBELL, Adj ut ant
Gener al / Comm ssi oner, Departnent of MIlitary & Veterans' Affairs
(DWA), in response to a request for clarification by Chair
Weyhrauch, explained that his pronotion to general was given by
the governor; it's a state pronotion, pending the federal
recognition process, which started this week. The star on his
uniform signifies his title. He explained that he wears two
hat s. The DWA has both the National Guard and "the civilian
side, which is honeland security.” Monday through Friday, he
acts as a state enployee in the comm ssioner's role, although he
wears his wuniform and is addressed as "general." On the

weekends, he said, he acts as a general in charge of the Al aska
Nati onal Cuard.

Number 0251

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL referred to his resunme [included in
the conm ttee packet]. He said he has been an Al askan resident
since 1981, and was assigned on active duty as a captain in air
traffic control at Elnendorf A r Force Base. When his three
years were up, he requested that he be allowed to stay in Al aska

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- February 4, 2003



- a request which was not granted. He left the mlitary because
he | oved Al aska.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said he joined the California [ATr
National] Guard because there was no guard based in Alaska in
his field of air traffic control. He added that there still
isn't today. He commuted from Eagle River, Al aska, to Hayward,
California, for seven years, paying for his own airfare, hotel
and rental car costs.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said that when the [168th Air
Refueling Wng, Eielson Air Force Base, Al aska] was activated in
1986, he started looking at the ability to have a hone in the

guard in Al aska. An opening becane available at Eielson [ATr
Force Base] eventually. He served for many years in several
posi tions, i ncl udi ng [l ogistics] squadr on comuander and

executive support staff officer to the comrander.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL noted that he spent one year at the
Naval War College. He said, "It excited nme to the point that |
wanted to expand ny education on mlitary affairs.” He noted
that he volunteered for the U S. Navy and was accepted. After
conpletion of that, he served as the executive support [staff]
officer for the Alaska Air National Guard [1999-2000]. He said
that the job penultimate to his present one was as Vvice-
commander of the 168th w ng, where he proudly served for 2.5
years w th Comrander Col onel Tim Scott.

Nunmber 0483

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL turned to his second point, regarding
why he wants [to be confirned as] general. He stated that after
27.5 years in the mlitary, he thinks he has done well in his
career and that "Alaska has sonme quality soldiers and airmen in
the officer corps.” He remnded the commttee that in the |ast
20 years or so, about half of the adjutant generals for the
State of Al aska have not been from the Al aska National CGuard

but have cone from the active-duty U S. Arny or the active-duty

US. Ar Force unit. Bri gadi er General Canpbell stated that
that always concerned him because he always felt that "having
to ... take vyour senior |eader from outside of the Al aska

Nat i onal CGuard [sends] a nessage to those in the Al aska Nationa
GQuard that they don't have the qualifications or capabilities to
be the | eader of their own organizations."

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL conti nued as foll ows:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- February 4, 2003



Traditionally, this is a purple-type operation, [a
m xture of] Arnmy green, Ar Force blue, [and] Navy

br own. The color mxes together, because you' re not
representing just your conponent, you're representing
all the mlitary conponents in the state. So,
traditionally, it's gone between green and blue -

between the Arny National Guard and the Air Nationa
Guard. The last two adjutant generals have both been
from the Arny National GCuard. So | really believe
that this time was an opportunity: if the Ar
National CGuard had qualified candidates, ... they
ought to put their applications in and ask to be
consi der ed.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said that the aforenentioned reasons
pronpted his decision to apply.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated that his reasons for wanting
to be adjutant general, in regard to specific issues, center
around the fact that his mlitary training [taught] him that he
wants to know what his directive is before he marches out under
orders. He told the commttee that the DWA web page does not

show a strategic plan. Furthernore, he challenged all of the
commttee nenbers to "look right now, and see if you can find a
strategic plan for DWA in the National CGuard.” He noted that

the last [strategic plan] was initiated by [Mjor GCeneral Jake]
Lestenkof approximately eight years ago and never cane to
fruition.

Number 0701

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated, "Wthout a strategic plan, we
don't know where we're going." He said that in his civilian
capacity, he was an airport planner for approximately 15 years,
i ncluding work in Ketchi kan, Juneau, and Fairbanks, anong ot her
pl aces in Al aska. He said that that discipline taught him the
i nportance of having a plan "that's real." He stated that he
feels his strength is [to be able] to begin giving direction
t hrough strategi c planning.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL noted another reason [for his
interest in the position] is in regard to the chall enges. He
said that [Major CGeneral] Oates [his predecessor] told him that
two issues he will have to face will nake his job even nore
chal | engi ng: honmel and security and the budget. Bri gadi er
CGeneral Canpbell told the committee that he is here today to say

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- February 4, 2003



that he wunderstands those challenges and wants to be the
adj utant general and the conm ssioner of DWA.

Number 0808
BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL continued as fol |l ows:
For those of you who nmay not be aware, we have

reorgani zed, and part of the first actions we've
[taken] to try to help us with the budget process, as

well as the strategic plan order of control, is to
decentralize the organi zation. Prior to ny comng on
board, it was a very Ilinear organization; Mjor
General Qates had nost of the divisions reporting
directly to him We've changed that in our
reorgani zati on. |"ve made it very vertical. | have
t he deputy commi ssi oners responsi bl e for t he
adm nistrative side. And | have, basically, two
col ums: one for the civilian honeland security
energency services, the other for the National Guard
that reports to ne. | think that's going to help ne
with nmy span of contr ol and doing your job

effectively.

Nunber 0880

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL indicated that there are 4,000
enpl oyees, part-tinme and full-tine. In closing, he listed his
priorities as follows: honmel and security; recruiting and
retention; mssile defense; transformng the National Guard; and
serving veterans - primarily to resolve the veterans' hone
I ssue.

Nunber 0926

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG stated that he thinks it is inportant
[to recognize] a group in need conposed of baby booner veterans
who are not seniors and wouldn't have need of [an Al aska

Pi oneers'] Hone. He said that sonme of them have @lf War
di sease, sone are Vietnam veterans, and sone are veterans of
ot her canpai gns, or perhaps peacetine veterans. He added, "And

| woul d hope that these people don't get |eft behind."
Number 0999

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL responded that, after 27.5 years in
"this uniform"™ he has a passion for the support and care of

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- February 4, 2003



"all who have served and are serving today." He stated that he
t hi nks one of the good things that DWA has done in the last few
years is the establishment of the [position of Special
Assistant, Ofice of Veteran Affairs, Departnent of Mlitary &
Vet erans' Affairs]. He noted that Laddie Shaw, who wll be
| eaving later this nonth, currently holds the position, and he
stated his commtnent to bring in another individual later this
year to [fill the position]. Bri gadi er General Canpbell said
that every person's need resulting from service to his/her
country [nust] be addressed. He stated his intent to take great

interest in "providing for all possible abilities to discuss
with the veterans' community what we should be doing to help
facilitate." He reminded the conmittee that the veterans'

prograns are primarily federal; the [DWA] is nostly a conduit
to help ensure that "the right individuals and the right
organi zations are attached to the right services."

Nunber 1084

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ said that energency response is part of
DWA's responsibility. He asked Brigadier General Canpbell why
he did not nane that in his list of priorities.

Number 1114

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL thanked Representative Berkowtz and
admtted fault in not nentioning that. He stated that energency
services is one of the primary roles of DWA. He said that [the
departnent] has hired a new assistant conm ssioner who wl|
"oversee the new civilian vertical organization, which is
honmel and security and energency services." He said that
reorgani zation wll allow the departnment to "nove sone of the
assets between the two separate divisions" [the Ofice of
Honel and Security and the Division of Energency Services] so
that they will operate nore efficiently. He told the commttee
that the departnment has just "done an administrative order
that's bringing over five individuals from other departnents to
support the honel and security side."

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL explained that the departnent is
| ooking to neld honeland security and energency services. He
explained that it will be irrelevant at the nonment of a call
whet her the energency is an earthquake or an anthrax [scare],
for exanple. A team wll be prepared to respond to the
ener gency. Then, once the energency is identified, one or the
other of the two divisions will pick up the responsibility of
handling the energency. He said that this approach is different

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- February 4, 2003



from what has been done in the past where the two divisions were
di vided. The assistant comri ssioner will facilitate the synergy
bet ween the two [divisions].

Number 1221

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON stated that he is pleased with Brigadier
General Canpbell's commtnent to Al aska.

Nunber 1243

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked Brigadi er General Canpbell if he
has "put together a scenari 0" whereby he could withstand a 5- or
10-percent cut wthout conpromsing the mssion [of the
departnent].

Nunber 1263

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL responded that the Ofice of
Managenent & Budget (OvB) is still conpiling "where we're
heading with what the final budget nunbers wll [|ook Iike";
however, he stated that he is confortable that he will be able

to provide the services needed with the budget that he submtted
to OMWB. He added that in that budget "we are |ooking for
adjustnments,” and he said that he thinks that it 1is his
responsibility to nmake certain the reorganization is properly
f unded. He said he will be able to do a good job if OWB
approves the budget he requested.

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked if the budget request of the
departnent is for the sanme, nore, or less than last year's
budget .

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL answered that he did not ask for |ast
year's budget. He nentioned adjustnents and said he would agree

that there should be sonme cuts. He expl ained that he took the
job as a fiscal conservative [who] believes that "we should
do only what is required.” He stated that the primary pillars

of the government, for which his departnent is responsible, are
safety and security, so he has nade sone recommendations for
adjusting funds to cover areas that would enhance honel and
security. He said, "It could end up being about the sane, but
there could be sone additions natched by deletions.™ He
explained that he thinks the existing budget for 2003 was not
al l ocated properly for the services needed.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- February 4, 2003



BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated that he is not comng forward
with any supplenentary requests for personnel costs for 2003,
which he said is what instigated his thinking that he needed to
make internal adjustnents, rather than conme to the legislature
to ask for noney. He said the way that the 2003 budget was put
toget her and executed for the first six nonths of the year has
caused a deficit resulting in "a fairly high vacancy factor."
He added, "And I'mgoing to do that deliberately.” He expl ained
that he wants his division nanagers and others in the departnent
to understand that, if a budget is passed, they have to live
wi thin that budget.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL specified that he would ask for
addi tional funding for disasters that happen.

Number 1449

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ stated that it's been the [l egislative]
majority's practice over the last couple of years not to fund a
di saster until it's supplenental. He said, "It's one of those
budgetary shell ganes."

Nunber 1460

REPRESENTATI VE HOLM noted that he is a nenber of "the enployers'
support of the guard and reserve." He asked Brigadi er GCeneral
Campbel | what his ideas for recruiting and community invol venment
are.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL reiterated that recruiting and
retention is one of the highest priorities, which he said he
wll address in nore detail during an upcom ng overview. He
stated, "There's pressure with the civilian side for jobs and,
since half of our force is part-tinme in the National Guard, when
they ... find that they can nmake nore nobney and have their
weekends off and get personal satisfaction by not being in the
mlitary, | find that discouraging." He said that he wants the
mlitary to provide options that attract people to the mlitary,
whether it's educational benefits, skill training, or getting a
col | ege degree, for exanple.

Nunber 1537

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated that the department wll do
"sonmething different” on the Air National Guard side. He
referred again to Colonel Tim Scott, a new brigadier general
selectee, who is currently in the Mddle East and w Il becone

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 9- February 4, 2003



the new air conmmander for the Ar National Guard wupon his
return. Col onel Scott wll be based out of Fairbanks.
Bri gadi er General Canpbell opined that one of the problens [the
departnent] has had is being too centered in Anchorage, so that
sone of the other areas of the state have felt disenfranchised.
A general officer in Fairbanks will have nore ability to work
with ESGR [Enployer Support for the Guard and Reserve], the
Chanber of Comrerce, and the business conmunity to nmake sure "we
do what's right for the guard nenbers, to serve the civilian
community and still be nenbers of the guard.™

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL chal l enged the International Guard to
"l ook at why only Fairbanks and Anchorage are where we have
bases.” He noted that there are smaller operations in the "Arny
@Quard” in Juneau, Ketchikan, and Wstern Al aska, and sone
aviation in Bethel and None. He said a mission requirenment is
necessary to "lead us to putting some equipnent and sone
m ssi ons outside of Anchorage and Fairbanks." He stated that he
thinks this is possible, but is not coomitting today to do it.

Nunber 1641

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN indicated a situation he had heard about
where classified information that cane to [the departnment] from
"the federal side" had been previously wthheld from the
adm ni stration. He asked Brigadier General Canpbell to comment
on that.

Nunber 1672

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL responded that it probably is the
result of honeland security and of civilians' need to know

classified information. He noted that traditionally, mlitary
people had security <clearances and responded to security
activities. He said, "Wth this changing world, | think it's
inperative that the civilian chain of conmands, specifically
through the executive branch, be available ... at least up to
the secret |evel information, which is the mgjority of
information on terrorism threats, and that type of information
that's out there." He stated that [the departnent] has already

instituted a program to get security clearances for nmany of the
senior staff in the governor's office who would have a need to
know, so that they can provide the governor with information, in
order that he/she can make the right decisions on whether or not
to activate "the force.™

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -10- February 4, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE LYNN indicated possibilities of having a US.
Coast @uard ROTC [Reserve Oficers' Training Corps] at the
University of Alaska Southeast, in Juneau, and a Junior Coast

Guard ROTC at Juneau-Douglas Hi gh School. He asked Brigadier
General Canpbell for his conments.

Nunber 1726

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL replied that the U S. Coast Guard has
recently been realigned into the U S. Departnment of Honeland
Security, which is a change fromits previous alignment with the
[US.] Departnent of Transportation. He stated that the Arny,
Air National Guard, and Navy, for exanple, are all aligned under
the [U S.] Departnent of Defense, which is where he said the
Nati onal Guard and Reserve authorities come from However, he
stated that he does not think that that should be a limting
factor for Alaska to "outreach”" to the [U S.] Departnent of
Honel and Security to work nore closely with the Coast Guard to
provi de prograns that are vital to the state.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL noted that the Coast Guard in Al aska
plays the role of the Navy; there is not a l|arge Navy

contingency in Alaska. In addition, Admral [James W]
Underwood is the senior naval officer, representing the Navy
task force in Alaska as a Coast Guard officer. He said, "I

think that sets the stage that opens the door to that
relationship between two different federal departnents that
allows wus also to be involved with the Coast Guard in
supporting, possibly, an ROTC program or a Junior ROIC program
in this state, which would be unique and different for the Coast
GQuard. "

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL explained that the Coast Guard
primarily gets its officers through its training in Connecticut
and through sources that aren't traditional ROIC prograns. He
said, "So, we'll be approaching that with the Coast CGuard, wth
the interest of trying to help themand work with themto see if
they would be interested in helping the state of Alaska wth
such a program™ He added, "W also will be looking to the
Coast Guard to see how our Al aska State Defense Force and our
Al aska Naval Mlitia nay be [of] nore use to them"™

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated that - since the Coast Guard
at the federal level has noved into the [U S.] Departnent of
Honel and Security, and [Alaska] now has an Ofice of Honeland
Security under Assistant Comm ssioner Sam Johnson - he thinks
it's reasonable to assunme that the state should have the Coast

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- February 4, 2003



GQuard, the Alaska State Defense Force, and the Al aska Naval
Mlitia integrated into [Assistant Conm ssioner Johnson's]
operations pl an.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL opined that whenever [Assistant
Comm ssi oner Johnson' s] di vi si on has to activate for
energencies, regarding any terrorist activity, he should not be
limted by the resources available, but should already have
accessible to himthe tools available through the Coast Guard,
Al aska State Defense Force, and [Alaska] Naval MIlitia. He
indicated that there would be ongoing training and ongoing
integration into operations plans, and he added that [the
departnment] wll be pursuing that. Bri gadi er General Canpbel

stated that he thinks the Coast Guard has a great future in
Al aska, and that [the departnent] will do what it can to support

[it].
Nunber 1864

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked Brigadier GCeneral Canpbell for his view
regarding the nation's inplenentation of honeland security
i ssues, versus the individual's privacy rights and other
constitutional rights.

Number 1877

BRI GADl ER GENERAL CAMPBELL answered that that is a national
debate that has many sides to it. He stated his belief that the
government has to provide for safety and security wthin a
state. He said that he does not believe that governnent should
tranple or even infringe significantly on individual rights. He
enphasi zed that he is "very nmuch an individual rights person.”
He stated that the strength of the United States of Anerica has
been individual rights. He noted that there have been other
countries whose individual rights are averted to the point where
government becones the noral |eader of the country, and he
posited that that's probably not a good thing. He said,
"Anmerica is formed by the noral |eadership of all of us,
together, participating in denocracy."” He stated his concern
regarding |laws being passed that would take away i ndividual
rights. Regarding [the consideration of new |aws], he stated
his belief as follows: "When it gets to the point when
i ndi vidual rights are infringed upon to the point that it takes
away sone of the l|iberties of Americans, ... we probably should
| ook at anot her neans of doing the business.”

Number 1949

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- February 4, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG asked Brigadier General Canpbell to
keep the commttee infornmed if he either formally, or
informally, thinks there are statutory changes necessary.

Nunber 1964

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ referred to Bri gadi er Gener a
Campbel |'s  previous statenent regarding extending secret
information to the executive branch. He opined that |egislative
| eadership should also be kept apprised, especially for the
purposes of checks and bal ances. He asked Brigadier GCeneral
Campbel | to "contenplate a mechanism for passi ng that
information when it's appropriate.”

Nunber 2002

BRI GADI ER CGENERAL CAMPBELL stated that he is aware of that
i ssue. He said that he has already discussed with [Chair
Weyhrauch] holding a separate neeting in the future to brief the
commttee on confidential information on terrorist activities
and threat levels, in order to bring the legislative body up [to
date] . He said that the classification system for information
is conplicated at the federal level. He |listed categories [from
nost to |east sensitive] as follows: "top secret,”™ which is
divided into separate |levels; "secret"; "confidential"; "for
official use only"; "for Jlaw enforcenent use only"; and
"classified confidential or sensitive." He stated his intent to

ensure that the legislature has all of the information that he
can possibly give to it, short of requiring its nmenbers to go
through a process of applying for a "classified 'secret'

classification, unless that's what you desire.” He told the
committee that he can share with it law enforcenent-sensitive
information, as well as confidential information; however, it

woul d have to be done in a classified executive session.

Nunmber 2080

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH told the other commttee nenbers that he [is
waiting for word froml the attorney general to discuss "what
sort of environnent that has to be discussed in."

Nunber 2091

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN posited that Brigadier Ceneral Canpbell is a
wel | -qual i fied nom nee.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -13- February 4, 2003



Nunber 2108

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH referred to Brigadier General

Campbel | ' s

previously stated comment regarding a lack of a strategic plan.

He asked himto describe his strategic plan for the dep

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL offered the follow ng exa
frustration brought about by |lack of a strategic plan:

artnent .

nple of a

The Air National GQuard side, for three years, was
contenplating ... bringing the C17 - that new air
lifter - from the Ar Force into the Alaska Air
Nat i onal Guard. W had sent individuals to Jackson,
M ssissippi, to learn how the M ssissippi A r National

Guard was working that program W had gone back to
Washington [D.C]. [U S.] Senator [Ted] Stevens was
supportive of the GC17 <comng into the reserve

conponent, and he certainly would have been suppo
of it comng to the Air National CGuard.

rtive

Wthin the last year, unfortunately, a decision was
made not to take that mssion in the Al aska Air
National CGuard, and now it's going over to the Air

For ce. And it will be at Elnmendorf - it's coming to
Al aska. So, it still brings that airfrane into this
theatre, which is good for Alaska and good for
Aneri ca.

The disappointnent to the Alaska Air National CGuard is
that we were looking at the C17 as a future mssion
that would give us relevancy with the Air Force for
the next 20 [to] 30 years. And that opportunity has

now di sappeared; we now have to look for
opportunities.

ot her

Additionally, it has brought the Air Force Reserve

into Anchorage, wth another forner airfrane,
they're going to be conpeting for the same rec

and
ruits

|"m conpeting for: t hose weekenders - those people

who work in the civilian comunity [who] are |o
to join the reserves. And now they' Il have

oki ng
t wo

options: the Air Force Reserve or the National Guard.

't wll put addi ti onal pressure on a i
recruiting base in Al aska.

mted

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said that he sees challenges that

have now been created by the C-17's going to the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- Februa

Air Force

ry 4, 2003



reserve. He stated that he is not interested in "readjusting
that issue.” However, he has asked the Air National Guard to
consider what would be a new mssion that it can [adopt] in the
next few years that brings it relevancy. He said that he does
not want a National CGuard that's based on |egacy m ssions and
aircraft and equi pnent [that nake it] becone irrel evant.

Nunber 2215
BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL offered the foll owi ng exanpl e:

About 15 [to] 20 years ago, the Air Force decided to
no longer fly the F-4 aircraft, and they gave them all
to the Air National Guard. The Air National Guard
received these aircraft, trained their crews in the F-
4, could not get supplies, could not get any mssion
tasking - the Air Force had no need for the F-4 - and
basically the units that had F-4s becane irrel evant.
They were struggling to stay alive. The one, such as
in Boise, ldaho, only survived by transferring over to
another airfranme, and they finally got the ability to
have another aircraft and built thenselves back into
rel evancy.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL indicated that a strategic plan wl|
identify short-term transformation and identify m ssions for the
next 1-5 years, thereby continuing the relevancy of the Nationa
Guard.

Number 2257

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL stated that he thinks the "Arny side"
has a great opportunity. He explained that, from the active-
duty conponent, it is looking at the striker brigade, which is
going to be stationed in Alaska. He told the commttee, "That's
a whole different way of |ooking at how we go to war." He said
that the striker brigade needs to respond quickly, and it has a
full conplenent of resources it needs to respond to. He stated,
"W have an outstanding Arny aviation conponent, and striker
brigade requires aviation." He said that he would be talking
wi th General Brown, and others, about seriously finding parts of
the striker brigade where the Arnmy National Guard can fit in,
and would make that part of the strategic plan and a goal for
the Alaska Arny Guard to | ead towards.

Nunber 2289

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -15- February 4, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said he knows that recruiting for the
National Guard wll take place in the Bush, and he asked
Bri gadi er General Canpbell to also consider the people in urban
areas who need jobs and [could be recruited].

Number 2336
BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said, "Absolutely." He reiterated

that recruiting and retention are both high priorities. He said
that he is certainly interested in Wstern Al aska, where there

has been a declining rate [of recruits]. He stated that he
thinks the needs of the individuals there have not been net as
well as they <could be; there those individuals are not

interested in joining.

BRI GADl ER GENERAL CAMPBELL told the committee about the Al aska
Yout h Acadeny and the "challenge program™ He proffered that
that programis one of the finest things that the departnent is
doing. The program is accredited, and the "troubled youth"” who

go through it receive a degree. He said, "They also have
recently been tied to the education fornula, and so their
funding allows us to us them as an educational - a growh -

opportunity for youth, other than just a place to put them to
give them some mlitary discipline and hope they turn out all
right.” Bri gadi er Gener al Campbel | stated that [the
| egi sl ature] has hel ped that program i mensely, and he asked for
its continued support.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG clarified that he was referring to
peopl e who have not had "those troubles,” but need jobs.

Nunber 2403

REPRESENTATI VE DAHLSTROM noted that she has the privilege of
having two [mlitary] bases in her district. She stated that
she considers it enlightening to speak with people in the
mlitary. She said that people in |eadership positions

t hroughout the state have expressed utnost confidence in
Brigadier General Canpbell's ability to [serve as adjutant
general / conm ssi oner]. She said that, since speaking wth
Bri gadi er General Canpbell, she feels that he is the correct
person for the position.

Number 2429

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ suggested that the recommendation be
passed on.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -16- February 4, 2003



CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked Brigadi er General Canpbell which mlitary
| eader from history he nost admres.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL expressed admiration for Teddy
Roosevelt as one of the stronger mlitary |eaders; although he
was not a traditional mlitary |eader, he really knew the
mlitary, participated in it in many ways that wer e
unconventional, and, as President, gave the mlitary sonme of the
greatest support. Brigadier General Canpbell referred to a book
called The Geatest Triunph, which is about how President
Roosevelt built a team to take Anerica's mlitary and bring
Anerica, as a country to the forefront of the international
world at the turn of the nineteenth century. He stated that the
sailing of "the Geat Wite Fleet" around the world really
denonstrated how the mlitary can be used for the interest of
Aneri ca.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAWVPBELL opined that the mlitary should
"never have its end goal being a mlitary goal." He said, "Qur
end goal is nothing nore than whatever the national objective of
the United States of Anerica is.” He stated that he thinks
Presi dent Roosevelt understood that very well. In response to a
gquestion from Chair Wyhrauch, Brigadier General Canpbell agreed
that the Departnment of MIlitary & Veterans' Affairs is probably
the smal | est departnent in the state.

CHAI R VEYHRAUCH asked Brigadi er General Canpbell to describe his
strengt hs and weaknesses.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAWMPBELL said that his strength lies in
under st andi ng "the organization," and understandi ng the needs of

Al aska. He remarked that he's lived in the state for a |ong
time and has a varied background. He said he thinks his
strengths will lead himto do the right things for Al aska and

DWA, and he told the conmttee that he has strong | eadership
skills.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL said his weakness is probably that he
has been part-tinme in the National Guard, only serving one year
full-time up to the present. He said that he is relying heavily
on full-time people in whom he has confidence - including
[Brigadier] General [Craig] Christensen and Col onel Tim Scott -
to help ensure that he doesn't nake any mstakes from his
"traditi onal weekender perspective."”

Nunmber 2560

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- February 4, 2003



CHAI R WEYHRAUCH asked Brigadier General Canpbell to tell the
commttee why the legislature should confirm him as conmm ssi oner
of the Departnent of Mlitary & Veterans' Affairs.

BRI GADI ER GENERAL CAMPBELL replied that he thinks that the
| egi slature should confirm him as commssioner for all the
things discussed today, including his vision of where the
departnent could go, his support for Alaska, his understanding
of where the departnent fits in state affairs, his |eadership
skills, and "for making Al aska a stronger, better place to live
and work."

[Although no formal notion was nmade, the confirmation of
Brigadier General Canpbell was treated as advanced from the
House State Affairs Standing Conmittee.]

HB 45 - SECOND VERSE OF ALASKA'S STATE SONG

Nunmber 2603

CHAI R WEYHRAUCH announced that the next order of business was
HOUSE BILL NO. 45, "An Act adding a second verse to the official
Al aska state song."

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH, sponsor of HB 45, noted that the proposed
| egislation would add a verse to "Alaska's Flag," the Al aska
state song. The decision of whether or not to add the verse has
been previously debated in the |egislature. He said, "It has
repeatedly passed the House and gone over to the Senate for its
anal ysis. "

CHAI R WVEYHRAUCH said the verse is a poem witten by Carol Beery
Davis, the forner poet |aureate of Alaska, and is designed to
recogni ze the state flag and the cultural unity in the state of

Al aska. He said that the [second] verse has been sung by his
own children. A choir of children has sung it at previous
events, including the inauguration of Governor Frank Mirkowski
and the swearing in of the Twenty-First Al aska State

Legi slature. Chair Weyhrauch stated his belief that it would be
meani ngful to adopt [the second verse] and that it is |ong past
due to address this issue.

Number 2715

CONSTANCE DAVIS told the conmmttee that she is a third-
generation Al askan. She explained that her natural interest in

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- February 4, 2003



the song is because her father was on the commttee to choose a
[state] flag, and her nother took notes [on the event], which
she later put into booklet form She said she thought it was
touching that her nother had stayed up long into the night
witing "this verse" at the age of 95.

M5. DAVIS said that the [second] verse has continuity with the

first verse and shows her nmpther's love for the | and. She
mentioned the progress "foretold in that verse" and its
hi storical context. Ms. Davis told the commttee that her

nother was a friend of Marie Drake and Elinor Dusenbury, the
aut hor and conposer, respectively, and she said she believed
those wonen definitely would have approved of [the second]
verse. Ms. Davis indicated that she had subnmtted a page
listing her nother's acconplishnents during previous hearings
and added that her nother was a very acconplished nusician, as
wel | as a poet.

IVB. DAVIS, in response to a question by Representative
Berkowi tz, confirned that [a bill requesting the addition of the
second verse to the Alaska state song] had passed in the House
[during the Twenty-First Alaska State Legislature] and, she
added, had done so in 1987.

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ asked how nany cosponsors were on the
bill.

MS. DAVIS said that she did not know.

Nunber 2850

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG pointed to the first paragraph of
Representati ve Car | Mor gan' s letter to Senat or [ Gene]
Therriault, dated January 31, 2002. It read as follows

[original punctuation provided]:

Twenty-nine of ny colleagues in the House and three
from the Senate have joined wth nme by co-
sponsori ng/ cross-sponsoring this bill

Nunmber 2887

J. ALLAN MACKINNON told the commttee that M. Davis's nother
was his [piano and organ] teacher and his inspiration for nany
years. He told the commttee that Ms. Beery was new to the
[ Al aska] Territory in 1920. He credited her with enabling him
to go to Sheldon Jackson College in Sitka, Alaska, and to

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- February 4, 2003



further study nusic Back East, and for inspiring himto conplete
hi s Bachel or of Misic degree "earlier."”

TAPE 03-03, SIDE B
Number 2950

MR. MACKI NNON nentioned the Anchorage Community Chorus, which he
beli eves may have been one of the first choral organizations to
sing the second verse. He said he has had the pleasure to
acconpany |[former Lieutenant Governor] Fran U ner and others
si ngi ng both verses.

MR, MACKI NNON acknow edged that "sone people, in previous
testinmony, in previous years have criticized later poets
witing words that would go with nusic.” He said that he
believes it can be shown historically that many songs and
nmel odies have been "adopted and later used and msused, and
[that] words of various descriptions have been added." He gave
an exanpl e.

MR. MACKINNON said he thinks it is inportant to note that M.
Beery knew and was personal |y i nvol ved W th "t he
contenporaries," M. Drake and Ms. Dusenbury. He said that M.
Dusenbury's husband was stationed in the mlitary at Fort Seward
and becane friends with the Davi ses and ot hers.

Nunber 2820

MR. MACKINNON said there has been "enthusiastic support and
usage of the second verse since 1987." He proffered that the
official adoption of the [second] verse in statute "is a
different |evel of acceptance to sonme people,” and woul d broaden
the understanding of what Alaska is all about. He urged the
conmmttee to adopt the second verse.

Nunber 2761

TERI TIBBIT, Staff to Representative Max Guenberg, sang the
Al aska state song, i ncl udi ng t he second verse under
consideration by the committee. [Lyrics to both verses are

specified in the bill.]

CHAIR WEYHRAUCH commented that HB 45 may or nmay not be a
contentious issue. He added, "Sonetimes little things like this
are inportant.”

Number 2562

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- February 4, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ noted that although he did not know
why, this issue has been a contentious one in the past. He said
that [the adoption of the second verse into the Al aska state
song] was one of the reconmmendati ons of [then-CGovernor Know es']
t ol erance conmm ssion. Furthernore, it is an effort that the
| egi slature can nmake in healing sonme of the "divides" in the
state. He said that that |egislative body often gets caught up
in rhetoric and the divisiveness of budgets and forgets that
[Alaska] is a small state. Furthernore, an effort should be
made to bring people together, whether they have newy arrived
in the state or have been here for generations.

Number 2521
REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said that, as the Representative from

Seward, he would be proud to have [the second verse] adopted.
He stated that he also thought that [the |ate] Benny Benson, who

designed the flag, would be proud, as well. He said that [the
addition of the second verse] "bodes well for Alaska, as it
indicates the aspirations of all Al askans." He encouraged the

committee to forward [the bill].
Number 2509

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG suggested that the passing of the bil
would be an historic event and many nenbers may want to have
their names attached to it; therefore, he asked if it would be
possible to have another printing of the bill, so that other
menbers of the | egislature could cosponsor the bill

Nunber 2458

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON noted that he had submtted a cosponsor
statenent, and he said he thought that [the nanes] would all be
on the official copy when it comes out on the floor of the
House.

Nunber 2445

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOWN TZ, in response to a question from
Representative G uenberg, clarified as follows: "As long as
peopl e cosponsor while [the bill] is in the possession of this
body - which it will be until we vote it out - the final version
that's read across to the other side will have all the nanes of

all the cosponsors.”

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- February 4, 2003



Nunber 2419

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN stated his belief that all 50 states have an
official state song, but Alaska is the only state [in which

residents stand during the singing of] its song. He expl ai ned
the reason for that is because the song is nore than just a
state song - it is also an anthem He said he thinks that the

Al aska state song, as it currently is, "honors all Al askans past
and present, rich and poor, old and young, Native [and] non-

Native." It also honors Benny Benson and Elinor Dusenbury. He
said he thinks that the current version of the song is "a
wonderful expression of tolerance.” He opined that, just as
words should not be added to the "Star-Spangled Banner," nor

should they be added to the Al aska state song. He descri bed
both those songs as classics and said he did not think that [the
| egi sl ature] should "nmess with a nmasterpiece,” or fix sonething
that is not broken. Notwi thstanding that, he said that he
t hi nks that the second verse is beautiful.

Nunber 2282

REPRESENTATI VE BERKOW TZ noved to report HB 45 out of commttee
wi th individual recommendations and the attached zero fiscal
not e. There being no objection, HB 45 was reported from the
House State Affairs Standing Commttee.

ADJ QURNVENT

Nunmber 2266

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at 9:05
a.m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- February 4, 2003



